.

Coroner's Inguest - Shochi Okamoto 5/25/44

Statement by mr., Laderer:

For the purpose of the record I would like to state that as District
Attorney of Modoc County, State of California, I have asked the name
of the guard at the gate who actually shot the decedent, but due to
Army Regulations 1 cannot produce it,
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County of Modoc

In the matter of lnquest upon the body of Shochi Okamoto,
before John C, Sharp, Coroner, we, the undersigned jury summoned to
appear of California, at Newell, California, on the 25th day of May, 1944,
to inguire into the death of Shochi Okamoto, have been sworn and charged
according to the law and have made such inquisition as regards the
decedent, and have adduced upon our authority, and for all to see, thst
we find that the decedent was named Shochi Okamoto, and that he came
to his death on the 25th day of May, 1944, at Newell, California, by
gunshot wounds, (in the county of Modoc, State of California,) by a
member of the United States Armed Forces while in the line of duty.

Signed this 26th day of May, 1944

W, Louden, Foreman Mra., B, C. Cox
Charles Callendine Mrs. Anne Janison
Enil J. Pish R. R, Baker

John O0'Shea Danliel Mr, Crawford




CORONER'S INQUEST TO IETERMINE THE CAUSE AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
IEATH OF SHOCHI OKAMOTO, 3002-A, TULE LAKE SEGREGATION CENTER,NEWELL,CALIFORNIA

‘.May 25, 1944

/ Jurors: W. Loudon, Foreman
Charles Uallendine

rhil J. Fish
John O'Shea
Mrs. E. C, Cox
Mrs. Anne Jumlson
R. R, Baker
Daniel H, Crawford

For the purpose of the record it 1s herewith recorded that the jury was
duly sworn by k. B. Server, Under-Sheriff of Modoc County, California.

Mr. Charles Laderer, Listrict Attorney of Modoc County, California, will
conduct the hearing at the request of the Coroner.

HENRY SHIOHAMA, first witness.

For the purpose of the record it is herewith recorded that the witness
was duly sworn,

Qe Will you state your name please?
A, Henry Shiohama

Q. Where do you live?

A. 1219-F, Tule Lake Center.

That is on the WRA, at Newell%

Yes.

How long have you been here?

From the beginning.

Can you give us the definite date of your arrival?

January 26, I guess, 1942,

Did you know Mr., Okamoto®

Yes.

How long have you known him?

Since January sometime.

Since January, 1944%

Yes,

He dled, did He?

Yes, that 1s what 1 hear,

When dild you see him last before he diled?

Yesterday at approximately two o'clock, a little after two.

Where was that?

At the front gate.

When you say the front gate, there are several front gates. There is the
military entrance, and there is another entrance which was used before the
military put in the entrance on the side road. Are you referring to the
0ld entrance? ]

The old entrance, in
That is the one that
Yes.

What were you doing there?

We went there after some lumber for the construction department,
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front of the 0ld post office building.
comes in from the old highway?
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With a motor vehicle of some kind?

Yes.

What kind?

A cargo truck, a Lodge.

Who was on the truck?

Okamoto and me.

Just the two of you?

Yes.

Who was driving. the truck?

Okamoto.

Under whose instructions was he driving this truck?

He is detailed from the Motor Fool and assigned to the construction de-
partment,

As a driver?

Yes, as a driver,

Was there a military sentry stationed at this gate?

Yes,

How many times did you go in and out of this gate yesterday?

Twice,

You went out twice, and came in twice?

Yes. J:

When was the first time you went out*?

Sometime in the morning, about 9:30.

And when did you return?

Right after I finished my job-it didn't take more than ten or fifteen
minutes.

Then when was The next time you went out?

I couldn't say the exact time, about two o'eclock, I suppose.

That was the next time you went out?

Yes.,

And when did you say you returned?

About 2:18, or so, I suppose,.

On both of  those occasions there was military sentry at thilis gate?

Yes,

Was the same individual stationed there in the morning as in the after-
noon?

No. There was a different sentry.

Is it customary for trucks to go in and out of this gate?

Well, recently we have been golng out of this gate for small loads of
lumber mostly.

When you go out of this gate does the sentry bring you to a halt for any
purpose?

To inspect the badge. Also They ask where you are going and we usually
tell that we are golng to the lumber yard.,

Did you stop in the morning when you went out?®

No, we didn't stop. After we did stop and the sentry asked us if we were
going to the lumber yerd, and we sald "yes."

Did the sentry in the morning walk up to the truck when he was talking to
you?

Yes,

Did you have any visible means of identification on you at all times?
Yes.

And what is that vlisible means of identification?

A red badge.

Would you mind showing it to the jury?

(Badge displayed by witness).

And where do you wear that badge?
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On the clothing-on the chest.

Did you have that badge on yesterday?

Yes,

And did Mr., Okamoto, and do you know where he was wearing that badge?

Yes, on his left chest.

And in the morning when you went out you showed the sentry both your
passes, or badges?

Na, I didn't.

Pid he walk up to the side of the truck to see if you had badges?

I suppose he did.

In the afternoon going out of the gate did the sentry stop you?

Yes.,

And did you say 1t was different sentry?

Yes.

That was soldier?

Yes,

And did he ask you for your identification?

Yes.

And did you show it to him?

Yes,

Did Mr. Ckamoto show him his?

Yes.,

You have another pass beside the red badge you

A blue pass.

A Dpaper pass?

Yes.

May I see 1t%

(Pass 1s displayed by witness.) Description of pass read to jury by Mr,
Lzderer: "In the uppermost left corner" !'This is No. 18 Badge,! "next
line is,® 'SHIOHAMA, Henry Hiroshi,' and under a caption entitled

Signer ldentification No. is the No. 7753-D. "The next line is," Age 25,
Helght 5'10", Sex-Male. "And under the caption Signature of Bearer appears
the witness' signature. Then underneath there in capital letters, 'MILI-
TARY POLICE PERMIT THE BEARER TO IRAVE COLONY LIMITS TO WORK AT CONSTRUCT-
ION.!' Next 1line, 'Between the hours of 8 o'clock a.m. to 5330 p.m.' and
signed 'W,E. Schmidt' on the right lower corner, snd on left lower corner
'"Frank D, Fagan, Personnel Officer.!

May L ask then, do all of you boys who are permitted to leave the Colony
have blue tag like this? &
Yes.,

On the reverse side is another card entitled 'Employees Lriver's Licene
1s that part of the card?

No.

But the so
blue pass?
Yes.

Do you know if lir, Okamoto had one of those blue passes?

Yes Relfe = o

Did you show your pass to the sentry in the morning?

NO.

Did you show it to him in the afternoon when you went out the gate?
Yes.

Did Mr. Okamoto show his pass too?

Yes,

Do I understand you correctly that in addition to the orange badge you
wear you have a blue pass which you must present as well:

Yes,

le permlt necessary to show the sentry at the gate 1s this
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I understand that the orange badge 1s your identification number, and the
blue pass is a pass entitling you to leave the boundaries of the Center,
1s that correct?

Yes

Did anything occur out of the ordinary in the morning when you first went
out? ;

No,

Did anything out of the ordinary occur at about two o'clock when you went
out of the gate?®

Well he was more or less stricter. He wanted to see where lMr, Okamoto had
his badge on. He asked him "where is your badge", and Mr. Okamoto answer-
ed, "right here,” and he pointed to his chest and then this sentry without
leaning up or doing nothing just said, "where I can't see 1t," and then
Mr. Okamoto ralsed it up and showed it.

When sitting in a truck how low 1s the window--I mean by that, when you
are sitting in the driver's seat could a person standing on the ground
walk up to tne driver and see a badge on a person from the ground?

I don't think this fellow could, he was more or less short, the sentry was.
And Mr. Okamoto raised hls pass badge up?

A€ 8

Did he produce the blue pass?

Yes, at first he produced the blue pass,

1s your orange badge wo. 818%

‘e 8.

That number that I read into the record a few minutes ago

the left hand slde of the upper portion of the blue pass as

apparently is tne number that appears on your orange ldentifi

button?

took place after he raised his badge up and the

ahead."

else take place?

Okamoto say anything more?
2:18 as 1 understand, you came back?

Did anything unusual take place then?

1 suppose you would call .Lt that,

What 1 am getting at, it was then the incident took
happened.

Well, this sentry kind of raised his hand. We were not sure whether
meant for us to stop or

Was he in a standing po

Yes,

Where was he in relation to the gate?

Right aﬂanw slide of the gate. ‘

On the inside of the fence would you say, or on the outside?
On the outolde.

And he raised his hand?

Yes.

How high?

About wailst high,

4nd then you say he moved his hand, what do you mean by that?
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Well, we were not sure what he meant by that, so we don't know whether he
means for us to stop or go on. So presuming like when we were going out
he wanted us to stop, so we stopped.

When you say 'we presumed' did Mr. Okamoto say anythling to you?

Yes, he says "I guess we better stop." We didn't know what he means by
that so we better stop.

Okamoto told you then that he didn't know what the soldier meant so you
better stop. Then did you stop?

Ye s.

What took place then?

Okamoto took out his wallet and showed his pass up high,

Did the soldier take 1t%

No, he seen him show the pass and then he said "Don't get fresh,"

Did Okamoto do anything which would lead the soldler to bellever that he
was getting fresh?

Probably the way he waved he meant for us to pass, but gince we stopped
and showed him the pass it might have got him sore.

And what d4id he do then?

Mr. Okamoto said, "You wanted to see my pass so I am showing it to you,"
And then what happened?

Then the sentry said, "You and Your WRA friends gre trying to run this
camp."

And then what happened?

Then he cocked hls gun.

What did Ukamoto do?

He was just sitting there.

And then what happened?

Then he went around the front side of the car to the other side, to' the
driver's side, and then he told him to get out, First he didn't get out
but at that second command he got out.

Did he say anything when the soldier first told him to get out?

No.

How long a time elapsed before the second command?

Right away.

And you say he did get out?

Yes.

And what did he do?

He got outside the truck and stood

The driver of the truck?

side

And then what happened?

By that time a Ford V-8 came up in back of our truck and 1 thought 1t was
an internal Security car, but I wasn't sure and this sentry ordered Oka-
moto to go toward the car,

Toward the V-87

Yes. He hesitated and didn't move. He lighted his plpe and the sentry
kind of pushed him with the gun, motioning him to go toward the car,

Do I understand you correctly, the sentry pushed him toward the car, and
you thought this V-8 was a WRA police car?

Yes.,
And Okamoto lighted his pipe?

Jes,

How was the soldier holding the gun, do you know?
No. .

How did he push Okamoto?

He just gave him a shove,




ENRY SHIOHAWA - 6  5/25/44

Was he facing the soldier or did he have his back to the soldier?
He was more or less facing him.
When you say more or less facing him do you mean partly sidewlse?
Partly side toward the other car, not enough to say sidewise.
He was facing the soldier?
Yes,
And the soldier then pushed him with the gun and ordered him to go toward
the V-8%
Yes;
After he was pushed what did he do%
He sort of warded off the blow.
Did he ralse hilis right arm?
More or less to ward off the blow.
In what manner though did he try to push the gun away--did he raise his
arm from the elbow up toward his face, and did he have his fist closed
or open?
No, his fist was not closed,
When he did that how close was the soldier to him%
Right up against him,
That was with his right hand that he tried to ward off the gun?
Yes.
Where was his left hand?
On his side.
What did he have in his hand?
Nothing.
Where was his pipe?
In his mouth, :
Was he saying anything at the time?
No.
DUid he say anything to the soldier at any time?
No.
Did he lean forward or move in any direction?
Well, Jjust a 1little toward the car - the V-8, when he got shoved.
Where was thls V-8 Ford in relation to the truck?
In the back.
And he leaned toward the V-8%
I mean toward the V-8 on the fender side. Kind of more or less staggering
a little.
At the same time the soldler was trying to push him?
At the same time.
Did he stagger back toward the V-8%
Not toward the V-8 but when he got pushed he warded off the blow, but
blow from the gun was enough to stagger him a little.
If the soldier pushed him with the gun when he was facing him and he
staggered he would stagger backward would he not?
t was on the arm that he got pushed.
He pushed him on the right arm?
Yos.
Do you know what portion of the arm was touched by the gun?
Right on the elbow.
30 he must have been turning a little Dbit, or he had been turned when the
;Oldier pushed this gun up, and he kind of staggered sidewise then?
es.,
Do you know how many steps he took back?
Just about a half a step.
Did the soldier say anything when he pushed him?
No.
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Did Okamoto say anything?

No.

And what happened then, if anything?

And then the sentry stepped back and fired,

What position was his gun in?%

About waist high.

Would you stand up, Henry, and show the Jury as near as you can, just the
position the gun was in at the time he shot, as nearly as you can
remember?

Witness stands showing the left hand extended forward about waist high,
Now how would the soldier and Okamoto compare 1ln height?

Okamoto is a little taller.

How much taller--would you say?

I don't know.

Are you sure now, to the best of your recollection, that when the soldier
shot ‘he had the gun at hip height?

Yes, it was walst high.

You would say, as nearly as you can remember, it was waist high?

Ye s,

Was Vkamoto staggering at the time he was shot?

No.

He didn't lean forward?

No.

e didn't lean backward?

No,

There was no motion at all?

No.

Can you again stand up, Henry, and show us as nearly as you can remember
the position vkamoto was in when he was shot?

More or less 1like that,

And where was the soldier?

Right in front,

He was standine erect?

tos,

He was standing on his feet?

Yes,

Were his knees bent any<

Not to my knowledge. I couldn't see, I was still in the truck.

As far as you could see he was standing straight up?

108

And during all of this time you were in the cab of the truck?

Yeg.

And he was doing the driving?

Tes.

And you were sitting at the driver's right?

Yes,

Had you seen Okamoto stand along the side of the truck before this
particular occasion:

Yes.

Now, for the purpose of refreshing your memory, would you say that his
helght was about the same as when he stands up erect when you saw hir on
previous occasions?

Well, on previous occasions I never took notice of how tall he was up
against the cab, _

So you would not know then whether he was sitting down or standing up?
He was standing up.

You know he was standing up?
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Yes, :

Did you see his arm move to ward off the blow?

Yeos.

Did he raise it from the shoulder or did he raise it by the elbow?
Around the elbow,

The upper- part of his arm did not move?

It might have moved a little.

When the soldier was pushing him, dld he try to push the soldier back?
No,

Did he try to grab the gun to stop the gsoldier from hitting him?

No.

Do you know whether or not he touched the gun gt all,

First time he pushed it because the gun was right against his elbow,
But the time he touched the zun it did not go off?

No.,

When you say he tried to ward off the blow do you mean he tried to keep
from being pushed?

Yes. x -

Do you know what it means to Fort Arms.

Did you ever see & soldier put his gun in that position before when he
halted a car?

No. .

When he dld stop the car he had the gun with the butt toward the ground
with his right hand on the barrel?

When he stopped the car first I never noticed,

What was the position of the gun when he was talking to Mr. Okamoto just
before the shooting?

Right after he pushed him he shot.

When did he put the gun in that position is what I am getting at.

When he told him to move toward the V-8,

And the barrel of the gun was up in the air and the gun was against his
breast, is that correct?

Something 1like that,

"hen did he put the gun in that position the first time?

When he told him to move toward the V-8,

Did you see anything else--the soldier said nothing more?

No.

at that particular time did Okamoto say anything?

No,

Neither said anything at all?®

No.

When he started staggering did the soldier do anything?

No.

Did the soldier stood straight?

Y

les,

How long after he staggered did the soldier shoot?

Right after he raised his hand to ward off the blow the soldier stepped
back and fired,

When he warded off the blow the soldier stepped back and shot?

Yes.

There was no time passed between the time he raised his arm to ward off
the blow and the time the soldier shot?

Not much.

It was almost one act followed the other immediately?

Yes,

How long has Okamoto driven a truck at the camp here, do you know?

Since January sometime.




HENRY

He has been driving since January?

Yes,

Do you know how many times he has gone 1n and out of the gate where this
thing happened, was it many times? :

No, not very many.

Was it daily or weekly that he would go oute?

Some times when we have any orders for small lot of lumber we go out,

No regular trips.

How long have you worked with him on the truck that he drives?

Since that time in January,

And since January would you say how many times that you and he have

come out of the same gate?

Not very many.

Can you give me an approximate number?

About ten or so, :

During that ten times was there ever a time that no soldier was at the
gate?

There was a soldier every time.

And did you use the same procedure each time?

No. y

What was the chanze, can you tell me?

Well, we usually tell them we want to go up to the lumber yard and then
he will ask 'have you anybody in the back.'

You didn't show your blue pass at all?

We usuglly have it out so he can see it.

Did anything pertaining to your pass, or to your identification, take
place differently this day in the other ten times that you were out,
except the fact that the soldier told him to get out of the truck?

Well he was more or less sarcastic,

LUid you ever go out of the gate with this soldier on guard before?

No. : ;

Do you know anything about the orders of the soldier--what he is supposed
to do%

No.

Outside of being sarcastic he used the same procedure as the other soldiers
he asked for your pass, your badge, and asked where you were golng outside,
if you had proper authorization?

Yes.'

Did Okamoto say anything at all to cause the soldier to become sarcastic?
No.

When he showed him his badge, or pass, did he say anything at all that
would cause the soldier to become sarcastic?

Not to my knowledge,

And you were there all the time so that you would know it if he had sald
anything,

Yes,

Is there anything else you can tell 'this jury about this case that I may
have overlooked, I am trying to bring out all of the facts and if you can
think of any specific event that L have overlooked will you please tell
us?

Well after he got shot he fell down and then he started beating his che st
at which time 1 was still in the car, and there was truck in front of Bs;
or three trucks, and a couple of boys with heavy equlpment, and I was those
boys start running toward the old post office building, and L believed
and started for the first telephone to call up somebody and I called the
police and the hospital.

Where was the soldier when you ran?

I d¥dntlt niotice.
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You do not know what became of the soldier afterward?

No.

How many times did the soldier shoot?

Just once.

He shot no more after he shot the one time at Okamoto?

No .

Do you know who was in the V-8 behind that truck?

No I do not.

Did you see the police come down after you called?

I seen a couple of cars come up. I was about three barracks away from

the old Post Office at the partment and where they had the telephone,

and 1 was trying to get in touch with Best's office.

Is there anything else that you can think of?

No. :

Has the jury any questions they wish to ask?

(No questions)

AT thls point a recess was declared.

Witness recalled to the stand by lr. Laderer and the questioning continued,
Just before the recess I saild that was all the questions, I want to ask
you one more question, if I may. At the time that this soldier pushed
Okamoto with his gun you say he staggered toward the V-8, is that correct?
If that is not correct you tell me.

Did I say that on the record? Yes, he stagsered, but I didn't say which
way .

Can you tell me which way he did stacgzer?

No, )

Did you see him stagger?

Yes.

Yhen you say you could not tell which way what do you mean by that?

Wiell he kind of moved but that's about all. :

He moved - toward the V-8 which was standing behind the truck?

You can call it toward the V-8 a little.

Well let me a3 over again - he was facing toward the front end

the truclk,

No, 1. didn't y t!

L Chah L C rlght you corre me .

He was facing toward the sentry

And the sentry was facing him?

Yes.

Who was facing the front end of the truck, %
lhey were lookling at each other but nob
front end e truck,

Which way

He was facing S way.

He had his bael the truck?

Yes.

When you say he
window of the d
tes,

You were sitting in the compartment of the truck next to the driver's
seat?

Yes.

When he moved you could not tell which way he moved?

When he got pushed on the elbow naturally he moved this way a little.
He had his back toward the window of the driver's compartment, and when
he was pushed he moved to his left toward the V-8,

Yes,

1

ne motor end of the truck?
ody was looklng toward the

E

moved then he was standing with his back toward th
driver's seat?

When the soldier backed up he backed away from the truck?
Yes, away from the truck.
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Was there anything behind the soldier?

No.

Uoes the gate open outward, that is toward the road?

I never noticed.

LYo you know whether or not the gate, if it were opened, would be behind

when the soldier backed up he was near, or

moto staggered did hb touch anything behind him, that 1s the truck
y-of the truck, that is what I am referring to?
10tice it whether hc touched it or not.

tell us which way he sta

pushed?

ggered?

made that statement that I

| you repeat that gtatement?
1 said he got pushed on his elbow so naturally he would go toward his
left a little.
flow do you know whether or not he actually moved.
He actually moved toward his left.
When the soldier shot him did he fall?®
1'»5' he fell
wav dld he fall--forward or backward or sidewise?

't notice which way he turned. He fell but the 1a°t I noticnd was
he was thumping his chest and groaning, that is

the scene, and then I got out of the truck and ran.
him 1ying on the ground?

thumping his chest I think he must have been on the ground
but I am not sure.
You didn't notice whether he was s 1 standing or lying on the grounda?
Well he was 1n a position on the g d or about ready to hit the ground,
The heavy equipment crew that was there could probably tell you better

out that,
When he staggered toward the ; > stageger beyond the view of the
window?
No he still was in my view.
You think he staggered about a half step?
Yes,
WWas he i n your view at the time he was
Yes his back was toward me.
And was the soldier in plain view?
Yes,
Did you see any motion with his left hand at 2119
No,
And the only motion you saw with his r
gun away immediately before he was sho
Yes.
When he came up with his right hand did he bend his knees at
Not that I noticed.
Can you tell us how much of his head or body did you see from the window?
Well the door was open so naturally I saw about all of him except probably
hig left hand I didn't see.
Had he bent his knees or made any other motion you would have seen it?
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Well I was looking at his arh that he was rais g up and I probably missed
the other part.

Did his shoulder go down?

No.

it stayed in the same posltion:

_qu

Ll mean the level of his shoulder did na go down, 1s that correct?

Ye s,

Who else was there besides yourself who might have seen this occurrence?
I noticed there were three trucks, no two cargoes and one ‘“nbup, and one
V-8 that came in the back but I didn't kXnow at that time whose those
people on the front or back trucks were., I know that they were boys from
the heavy euulummt CIr'ew,

Are you referring to Japanese boys when you say !from the heavy equiprient
crew!?

Yes.

Lid you later find out who they were?

Yea.

Would you give me their names?

Charlie Antoku, Gen Hitomi, Jiro Snow, and the rest I don't know their
name s,

Did you know at that time the soldier's name?

I didn't know.

Have you later found out who the soldler was?

No,

Do you know anybody else who saw this incident?

That V-8 probably seen it.

Do you know who was in the V-82%

No I don't,

Can you give us the names of anybody else who may know anything about
this incident?

No,

Has the jury any questions they wish to akk?

(No questions.)

Witness dismissed.




CHARLIE ANTOKU, 2nd witness.

For the purpose of the record it is herewith recorded that the witness was
duly sworn. Juestioned by lr. Laderer.

Will you state your name please
Charlie Antoku.
And how old are you?
21
When were you 21%
January 10.
You are a person of Japanese ancestry?
169, 8Ly,
And you live at 4401-A, in the WRA Center at Newell, California, in this
country?
Yes.
You' speak English do you not, and you understand English?
Yes.
Pid you understand when lr. Server stood and agdministered the oath what
that meant?
Yes,
Charlie, this 1s a coroner's inquest, investigating the death, cause of
death, and the person responsible, if any one, concerning Shochi Okamoto,
Are you acquainted with him?
I knew him when I formerly worked at the motor ponl.
You just know him but didn't know him personallvy?
No, I didn'!
vld you know nim by sight?
Yes.
How big a man would you say he was?
5'105", something like that.
How heavy a man would you say he was?
About 200.
Do you know that on May 24th he was supposed to have been shot?
Yoa, =iy,
And do you know that he really died?
Yes, sir,
] you present at the time he was shot?
gir.
i did you first see lr. Okamoto yesterday-that is on the 24th' of May.
At two, a little after two when he left the gate.
He was on his way out?
Yes.
Where were you?
About 25 or 30 feet away from the gate awalting for an escort.
You were going out the gate too?
Yes, we were waiting for the escort.
1 notice you have on you a badge with number, what is that badge?
The Army badge that is lssued £o us to go on the outside of the area.
Is that an identification badge?
I imagine you could call it an identification badge.
Vhat do you do with that badge when you leave the colony?
That 1s sug)oqed to be in 1gﬁt
Do you show it to the guard when you leave the camp?
We are supposed to have a blue pass when we go outside.
And do you work outside the confines of the camp?
Sometlme we do and sometimes not.
Whﬂn you leave the camp do you show both the badge and pass?
e have been out once since we got this badge. I have used it

=0
- - -
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The place where this shooting took place is an entrance the camp off
the main highway, the state highway, lets refer to this an the 0ld entrance
The shooting took place at the old entrance did it not?

Yes, :

Every time that you went in and out was there a soldier on guard?

Yes,

When you passed that soldier what did you necessarily do?

Stop and show him the pass. .

Do you show the blue pass?

Yes.

And he also looks at the badge on the breast?

L can't say - we have it out for them to see.

Do you know the difference between the colors of the passes - why that some
are green and some red, and other colors?

White passes are for the administrative section, and the red ones are also
for the administrative section but used during the day time, and the green
ones are for the outside area like the farm, to haul gravel on trucks, and
lilte That,

Now, getting back to yesterday, liay 24th, when you were standing by the
gate were you on the ground within the camp area, or were you on the out-
slde of the gate toward the highway?

On the inside.,

Did you see the truck pull up that ukamoto was drivingt

Yes.

Which side of the gate were you on?

More on about the driver's side. Kind of in between sittimg on the fender
of the truck, Our truck was facing toward the highway.

Your truck was facing to the highway, and which side of the truck would
the truck in which Ukamoto was riding pass yout?

Passed on our left,

How were you sitting?

1 was sitting on the driver's side, on the fender.

Did you notice that truck stop at the gate on the way out?

Yes.

Did he present his identification to the guard on duty at that time?

I couldn't say,.

The truck stopped at the gate and then proceeded on its way and you did
not know what transpired wh&n the truck stopped?

No.

Did you hear any discussion of any kind?

No,

Was there anything to attract your attention to the truck?

No,

Were you there when the truck returned?

Yes.,

Were you sitting in the same position?

Yes.

Was that what put you on the driver's side?

Yo s,

When the truck drove up where was the soldier?

He was in that little shack there,

And which side of the truck would that be on, would that be on the driver's
side?

It would be on the opposite side.

Did the truck stop on its way in?

Yes,
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And what did you see - what dld the soldier do, and what did Okamoto do?
The sentry came out and said "All you Japs with the WRA think you are
going to run the WRA."

And who did he say that to?%

He was looking at Okamoto at the time,

He was looking at Okamoto?

Yes,

And then what did he do?

He came around the front of the truck to the driver's side and ordered
him to get off the truck.,

How far were you sitting away- from this truck when it stopped?

About 25 feet,

Was there anybody else on the fender beside you?

NO-

Who was the nearest person to you?

Two were sltting in the cab of the truck and two in the back.,

Who were those men, may I ask?

Gen Hitomil, and Tomotsu Kadowaki, and on top Kampo Ogawa and Frank Amemiya
Was your motor running at the time?

No,

Wias the truck coming in with its motor running at that time?

Yes, its motor was running.

You say you were waiting for an escort?

Yes,

What took place then%

The sentry ordered Okamoto to get off the truck. Then he looked toward the
other fellow sitting on the side and asked him to drive the truck in.
Shiohama nodded 'no' and again the sentry ordered Okamoto to get off the
truck but at the time he was lighting his pipe and then he got off, and
the sentry ordered him to get back, pointing his gun. In the meantime he
was also sucking his pipe, then the sentry butted him with the gun which
Okamoto in order to defend himself raised his arm, then the sentry pulled
back and fired.

The sentry told him to get out of the truck?

Yes,

Dld you see for what reason?

No I did not.

Could you hear him?

Yes,

Did he say anything else besides 'get off of the truck!'?

No.

How long a period elapsed before he ordered him to get out the second
time?

Just a few seconds, when he ordered the other fellow to take the truck in,
hen he came around to the driver's side of the truck you say he ordered
Okamoto to get out of the truck?

Yes.

What d4id Okamoto do?

At the time he was lighting his pPipe.

In the truckg

Yes.

Did he finish lighting his pipe before he got out?

I couldn't notice.

Did Okamoto say anything before he got out of the truck?

That 1 couldn't say - it didn't seem like he sald anything,

You couldn't hear what he said?

No.
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He didn't move at all?

No.

When the soldier told him the second time to get out of the trueck did he
hesitate?

He got out,

Did he say anything to the soldier when he got out?

No.

Lid the soldier say anythlng to him?

He ordered him to get back, in other words out toward the highway.

He told him to get out toward the highway?

Yes, :

Was there anything behind this truck?

That I didn't notice.

You didn't notice whether there was anybody or any other car?

I think I seen a car but I am not positive.

Do you know whether any other Japanese boys were behind the truck?

That I couldn't say, they might have been back up in the lumber yard.
When he ordered him back there was no more said by the soldier other than
to get back? —

He ordered him twice to get back

Did he indicate what he meant when he said to get back, did he want him
to get back behind the truck?

That I do not know,

And as far as you know the soldier did not tell him why?

Yes,

You say he ordered him back two times. The first time he ordered him
back what did he do, I am referring to Mr. Okamoto.

He was smoking his pipe then.,

Did he stop and l1light his pipe then?%

That 1 could not say,

Did the soldier do anything at that time?

Well he ordered him to get back.

That 1s the second time?

Yes.

Between the first time and the second time did the soldier make any move
toward him?

HHe took a pace toward him,

The soldier took a pace toward Okamoto?

Yes,

What d4id Mr. Okamoto do?

Nothing - just that one pace back,

Let me understand you correctly: When the sentry on duty told lir. Okamoto
to get back he stopped back one pace?

Yes, right when he was ordering him the second time.,

The first time when the sentry ordered Okamoto to get back what did Oka-
moto do?%

Nothing, he was smoking his pipe.

Did he raise his hands any?

No.

Did he have anything in his hands?

No,

You don't know whether he 1it his pipe then or not?

I couldn't say,

Referring to the first command, now when the soldier told him to get back
did he move his hand at al1?

No.

Do you know what position his hands were in on the first command to get
back?

He had his left hand down and his right hand holdine his pipe.
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That is on the first command?
Ves.
What did the soldier do when he ordered him to get back the first time?
I don't know.
Pid the soldier make any move at all, did he move his gun or change the
‘position of his gun?
He raised his gun a little., .
What position was the gun in at the time he made his firs command to get
back?
Right about here. He had the butt of the gun a little Dbit above his hip
and the barrel of the gun pointing up in the alr, pointing straight,
Over Okamoto's head?
Toward hls body.
That 1s on the first command?
Ye s,
How long a period nlaukeﬂ between the first and
Just a few seconds,
Y14 either parties change positions?
i don't think so,
lqep when he ordered him to get back the time what did Okamoto
He took a pace back and the gentry moved a forward,
le elither say anything to the other?
all the sentry sald was for him to get
Was the second command louder than the
e8,
Was the man excited, did he sound more excited?
He did say it a 1little louder than the first,
Then did the soldier change the poslition of his gul?
He still had it in the air.
He still had it in the same position?
Yes.
When Okamoto took a step baek which way did he stop?
pulls his left foot back and Just once pace.
Toward the back of the truck or the sate?
lo‘r‘u’d the back of the truck,
las he facing the gate?
Yes, he was,
Anﬁ where was the soldier?
I imagine he was around about 4 or 5 feet
About 4 or § feet, facing Okamoto?
Ye s,
S0 the soldier was facing the back of the uck Okamc was facing
the motor of the truck and toward the 5
Will you explain that agaln?
The soldier had his back toward the aLa fac*na '*amoto, and Okamoto was
facing the soldier with his back tow the bﬁ”“ of the truck and his
face to the front of the truck, fac .‘i ng the soldier?
His back was toward the back of the truck and the sentry he was on a
facing 1n toward the colony and having his back toward the cate .
Know whether that cate swings toward the outside or toward the

2

g8 elther way,
Do you Vno. Vthh vay “the gate was open that afternoon?
One I think was in this way toward the. project looking out toward the
gate no, the left gate was in the project, the right- hand gate outside

the project,
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Then the gate on the driver's side of the truck was Open toward the
highway when the truck was coming in at the time of this incident?
I want to make a correction there. Bother gates were in the project
facing toward the project, because I remember there was a jeep at the
gate and he was back of there.
If the gate had been shut how far would the soldier have been from the
gate toward the highway at the time of the order to go to the back of the
truck?
1t was about in the center.
And how far away toward the highway?
The length of the fence.
How far out toward the highway, though?
About 50 feet away from the fence. He was standing
with the fence,
How far out toward the highway?
1 mean he was standing in line with the fence.
standing right opposite the driver's compartment of the truck?
cruck drove 1n it stopped. Was he standing right along side
side of the truck when he ordered Okamoto te stand back?
couple of feet away from the truck.
But along aslide of the driver's seat of the truck?

When the truck pulled up there did you see the soldier make any motion to
the truck?
No I didnt't,
Uld the soldier when he first came out of the house?
No.
/] came out c 1is house and he d up toward th
truck was ning did he motion with his hands?
See.
your full view?

2 a motion you would have seen it.

but I don't say that.
Do you know when the soldier first walked out of the guard house to the
truck when the truck was first coming in, did you notice the positilon
of the guard's hands?
NO, P fﬂif‘]n't-
Did you see the gun?
I seen the gun, yes.
Where was the zun?
That I couldn't answer, I didn't notice, but I know he had the gun,
When was the first time you saw the gun in the position where you testi-
fied?
When he ordered Okamoto to get off the truck.
That is the first time he put the gun in the poslition that you first
testified to?
les.
Did you ever see this soldier standing there with the gun in a pos
with hls right hand holding the barrel, the butt of the gun in his
and holding the gun across his breast?
That is when he ordered Okamoto to get off the truck first, then he
changed the position, :
When did he change the position of the gun from which he originally had
it into Port Arms position?
After he ordered Okamoto to get off the truck,
From what position to what position?
From across here (his chest) to this way down.

1451
le

on
o
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And when Okamoto got out & the truck he had tke gun pointing toward him,
is that correct?
Directly toward him but first down toward the ground, about from his
walst down here.
And when he ordered Ukamoto back to the car did he change position of the
gun then?
A 1ittle higher.
Where was the gun pointing, approximately, at Okamoto?
Toward his stomach,
Then when Okamoto took a step back and the guard took a step forward at
the second command dld he change the yositlon of the gun then?
Not at the Time, When he Drdered him to get back the sentry butted him
with the gun,
Was that on the first or second command?
The second command,
Was that when Okamoto took g step back - when he butted him with the gun?
Right g8 he toock a step back,
“hdf part of the gun did he butt him with?
The lower end of the gun,
And what part of the body was struck?
He defended himself with the left hanad and he got him across the chest.
Did he hit him very hard?
1t was not strong enough force,
Did 1t stagger him?
It threw him off balance.
Lid he hit him on the head, the face, the arms, or the legs, with the gun?
When QOkamoto defended h]w081¢ the snntry was going To butt him and Okamoto
raised his arm and he got him across the c;eqt
and you say he staggered a little bit. Did he fall against the truck?
No.
1t was not hard enough to make him stagger agalnst the truck?
No,
Uid the soldier come back before he went forward with the gun when he hit
him?%
Noy he didn't,
Do you know what part of the butt of the gun hit Okamoto? Was it the
edge of the gun or the flat part of the butt? Did he take the gun up
and hit him with the butt of the gun or the flat edge of the gun?
That I couldn't say. The action was kind of fast there. :
But you know that he hit him some place across the chest?
Yes, '
Do you think that it was hard enough to leave a bruise or cause blood?
No l don't imagine it was that hard.
hen he ralsed his arm to defend himself it was his left hand?
Yes,
Di1d he touch the gun with his left arm and push the gun away?
Yes, ' 5
What did he do with his right hand?
He had his right hand down,
His right arm never moved?
No he was puffing his pipe.
Did he move toward the sentry then?
No.
Yid he have anything in his hand?
No, he didn't.
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How long after he defended himself against the blow did the soldier shoot
him? :
As soon as he defended himself the sentry took a pace back and fired.
Did you see the sentry load his gun?
That I didn't see.
Did the sentry do anythins to prepare the gun to shoot that you saw?
He pointed 1t toward Okamoto, -
Did he throw a cartridge into the barrel?
That I didn't see.
But you do know that he raised his left arm to ward off the blow of the
gun? :
Yes,
Did the soldier push Okamoto?
<hat 1 can't recall,
Did he hit him any other time?
That is the only time.
Did you hear any conversation between the soldier and Okamoto, either then
or immediately following?
No.
Did you hear any conversation?
No.
When Okamoto stepped back how far was that step taken in relation to the
cab of the truck? Do you understand? He stepped out from the cab of the
truck right along side of the cab then he stepped back when the guard
ordered him the first time to move back. How far back did that take him
beyond the cab of the truck?
About a foot,
Did you see his knees bend at any time either from the blow or for any
other reason?
No.
Can you tell the jury what position that gun was in when the soldier
actually shot, as nearly as you can remember?
At approximately about here - then fired.
He had the butt of the gun against his right shoulder?
Not quite up to his shoulder.
Yhat position was Okamoto in when he was siot, was he standing straight
up?
He was warding off the blow when the sentry took a pace baek and fired the
shot,
He had his left elbow up?
Yes.
%hen as nearly as you could observe his knees were stralght?
©8,
When did he move the gun from his hip to his shoulder?
As soon as he butted him he brought it back here.
He took a step back immediately and shot, is that correct?
Yes,
At the time he shot, where did you s=ay the gun was pointing - at what part
of Okamoto's body?
Seems as though the way I seen it, it was between the chest and the
stomach,
What did you do then, if anything?
As soon as the sentry fired he turned toward us, at the rest of the fellows
that were there, and he sald "The rest of you fellows et the hell out
of here,"
How many times did the soldier shoot?
Just once.,
You only heard one shot?
Yes.
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He did not shoot in your direction while you were running?

That I couladn't say. .

Digd you see Okamoto when he fell to the ground?

Yes.

Which way did he fall, forward, backward or sldewlse?

Forward on his left side and back,

And what did the soldier do then?

He turned toward us and ordered us to get the hell out of here.

Were you there when the police and army got there?

No, I wasn't.

From then on you don't know what happened?

No, I don't.

Just before the soldier shot he stepped back, how far was he from the
opening of the gate when he shot, did you say? Do you understand what

I mean?

Ko.

How far away was his back from the end of the opening of the gate when he
shot?

Give me a better plcture than that.

What was the distance between the driver's side of the truck and the
opening of the gate where you were sitting, approximately?

9 or ten feet.

And when the soldier ordered Okamoto to go back to the truck he was stand-
ing with his back toward the colony, as I understand, i1s that your
testimonyi .

Yes.

How far was his back from that edge of the opening of that gate did you
says

I imagine about 7 or 8 feet.

At the time he shot vkamoto how far did you say the edge of the gate was
from his back?

About 4 feet,

How, when the soldier backed up to take thls shot Vkamoto did not move at
all?

No, he didn't.

He was standing facing more toward the colony¥
Yes,

Which slde was facing the barrel of the gun, his left or his right

More of his left,

In other words the gun barrel was facing his left side?

Yes,

When he fell he patted his left side?®

He patted over this way, toward the stomach.

Toward the left of the stomach, or abdomen, are you sure of that?

Yes.

Are you sure it was the left side, and he was patting his left side when
he fell?

Ye s,

Just to make sure that we are rlght, Charlie, would you mind getting up
on your feet just a moment and use the court reporter here as the soldier,
and show us the positlon he was standing in when he was shot?
(Description of action of witness-You are standineg with your left side
toward the court reporter, i1s that correct (yes) and the court reporter
weould be about 4 or 5 feet away from you and she would be in the same
position as the soldier, and the gun in the soldier's hand would be
polnted toward the left side of the body toward the stomach between the
chest and the stomach at the time of firing.)

’
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Is there anything else that you can add that we may have overlooked?

I guess that is about all,

If you have anything else that I have forgotten to ask 1 would appreclate
your telling the Jjury about it.

I can't think of anything else.

Has the jury any questions that they wish to ask?

(No questions)

Witness dismissed.




GEN HITOMI, 3rd Witness.

For the purpose of the record it 1s herewlth recorded that the witness was
duly sworn, Questioned by Mr. Laderer.

Will you state your name please?

Gen Hitomi,

How o0ld are you?

25

You are a person of the Japanese race are you not?

Yes.

You live at the WRA Center, Newell, California, Modoec County?%

Ye s,

How long have you resided here?

Almost two years June 5, _

Gen, this 1s a coroner's ilnquest, investigating the death, the cause of

death, and find out the responsible party if any, pertaining to Mr, Oka-

moto, Did you know HMr, Okamoto in his lifetime?

No, I never met him,

Would you recoghnize him if you saw him?

Yes.

When was the first time you saw him?

It was that day when he got shot.

That was the afternoon of May 242

Yes.,

Was that the first time?

Yes.

¥here did you first see him?

When he got off the truck,

Where did he get off the truck?

At gate No. 4.

Do you recall the gate which was used for the main entrance to the WRA

prior to the time the Army put in the new set-up. Do you remember how
the people used to get in?

They used to go in this No. 4 gate

We wlll refer in this record to th
ate as you refer to as No. 4.

Yes.

That 1s the gate that you saw Mr, Okamoto at just before he was shot?

Yeos.

Was he going out of the project or coming in when you first saw him?

I seen the truck go out then when he came in I saw him.

The first time he was returning?

Yes,

Where were you when he was coming back?

I was sitting in the grease monkey truck No. 136.

In what part of the truck were you?

In the driver's seat the right-hand side,

Was there a soldier at the gate?

There was a M.P, on sentry,

When did you first see the soldier come out to the truck?

You mean when the truck came back?

Yes, when it returned.

As soon as the truck came back it stopped and the M.P. came out of the
shack,

The truck came up and stopped and you ssw the soldier come out of the

house?

Yes.,

at as the old entrance, 1t 1s the same
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Where dig the truck stop-by that I mean, was the front end of the truck
on the inside of the gate before it stopped, or was 1t still on the
outside before it stopped?

I couldn't tell, but I think it stopped before 1t hit the gate.

So the truck and the soldier were in your view all the time then, and when
the soldier came out of this guard house did you see him signal the truck?
No.

Had he signalled the truck would you have seen 1t?

Yes, if he made a motion to stop I would see that,

But you saw him come out of the house and go around the truck?

Yes.

Did he make any motion with his hands?

Not that 1 saw.

Did you notice whether or not he had a gun on his person when he came out?
He had the gun with him,

Do you know what Port Arms means in the Army?

No,

To designate with the hands the position the Army calls 'Port Arms', the
right hand on the barrel with the butt toward the ground, and the gun
being held across the body- that is the position he had the gun?

Yes.

Was the truck running?

No, we had stopped and we were waiting for an escort.

Do you know whether the truck Okamoto was driving was running?

Ye s,

Could you hear any convVersation?®

No, I didn't hear. The only thing I heard was the M.F, give the order to
get off the truck,

Was that the only time he told him to get out, or did he tell him twice?
Once is the only time I heard., Then lr., Okamoto got out of the truck.
Where was he when he gave that order to get out of the truck - in relation
to Mr, Okamotols truck?

The MP went around the front of tk truck, the driver side, and gave the
order. The truck was facing toward the Ad. (Administration) Building.

And Okamoto did get out of the truck?

Yes.

When he got out which way did he face?

The M.F. told him to get off and he got off. The M.F. was saying something
but he was facing out toward the road and motioned with the gun toward the
highway. Mr. Okamoto had his pipe in his mouth and the M.P, struck him
with the butt,

When the soldier was motioning with his gun toward the highway Mr, Okamoto
was lighting his pipe? '

He started to light his pipe.

Where were hls feet at that time?

Both feet on the ground.

Which part of the gun hit Mr. Okamoto?%

The butt.

Could you vh he was hit - what part of

About cn the

ihe back of tt ck on the right slde?

Left hand side. _

And his arm was in a horizontal position?

As the M.P. swung his butt around Mr. Okamoto swung his arm up to defend
himself.

You say the butt actually hit Mr. Okamoto?

1

{lo, he had his arm like this in order to defend himself.
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of Mr. v;arot@ was actually hit by the butt of the gun?
neck.

part of the arm did you say was struck?
On the back of his arm,
Could you tell us whether he struck him with the edge of the butt of the
gun or with the side of the gun?
I would say the edge of the gun, he had a full swing on it,
He was then at Port Arms and he brought the gun up over his shoulder,
or did he just come and hit with the side of the gun?
Just enough to get a edge on,
You would say the edge of the butt hit hls arm and the back of his neck on
he
The side of his neck.
You would say-the edge of the gun hit him?
Yes.,
Did it stagger him?
It bent him back when he hit his arm, then the M.P. just backed up and
pulled the trigger.
When he was hit did he fall back around the truck?
No,
He threw his left arm up to protect himself?
Yes.
What did he do with his right arm?
He held 1t at his side.
When did he drop his right arm - he was lightin B when did he
Stﬂp:
As soon as the M.P. threw up his butt he dropped
Did he grab the gun?
No.
Did he have anything in his hands?
No, just lighting his pipe.
He threw up his left hand?
Yes.
You say the sol« e ely stepe
Yes.
What was the position of hils gun when he
About: right in the pit i 1 '
How was M OQkamoto v o whe! :
1 very much chance to come back, he was standing almost
soldie ending sideways toward the truck.
soldier .* was he turned sideways?
toward the soldier but I can't tell about the body.
was facing toward the gun. He was bent toward the side.
Cauld you tell us what part of the 136? the gun was pointing to when 1t
went off, at the time the soldier shot?
As I say, I can't just say what angle he w
the M.F. though. I would say almost straight facing the M.P.
Did he move at all before he was shot, except from this blow that you are
talking about? '
He dldn't move.
Did he step back or step toward the
He dldnt*t step toward the soldier.
Did he make any motion?
Not agalnst the M,.P.
In any way did he step :
the M,2. threw up his gun his arm moved.

'as facinﬂ, he was facing toward
5




RANMT & lOG A
GEN HITOMI - 4 E.‘,‘;:;-)/4—‘L

Did his feet move?
I couldn't say.
Did the goldier step toward him when he hit him?
Yo s
Would you = hat w was hard enough to leave a bruise and cause
I:could T8
You could not G w hard he delivered that blow?
No.
How hard a blow did he hit Okamoto?
Enough to give him a sting for a minute or so maybe.
Did he polnt the rifle at Okamoto at any oth time except the time
shot?
The only time he told him to get off the truck he had 1t like this
he told him to get of
He had A e “091tion polinted toward Okamoto and the point of the
was resting near his hip?
Yes.
gid J‘_ see him cock the gun or load 1t?%
the M.P. came ‘around the side of the truck he cocked the gun.
AOV d;d he cock the gun?
It is a bolt action and he cocked 1t like this,
Are you acquainted with guns - do you know what bolt action is?
I am not familiar with guns very much, but he brought the bolt back
then pushed it forward agaln to cock the gun.
Did you actuglly see the Soldier do that?
Yes, when he came in front of the truck.

and

Theﬂ he came in front of the truck you saw him pull the bolt back and

then

Yes.

Just before he sl did he do anything else to the gun in the way o
loadin P00 ing it ready fire?

No.,

Did you know that soldler who was on guard that d4id the shooting?
No, I never saw him before in my life,

You don't know his name?

No.

After Mr, Okamoto was shot did he fell down?

1%
himself, on the side, like this

, saying in Japanese
hand and hitting on the left

what did you do, did you do anvth1r; yourself?
The M.P. Polnted the gun in the air and =aid for us
air like this and told us to the hell out of there.
Was 1t polinted directly at you or above your heads?
Above our heads.
Did he reload the gun or work the bolt action?
I didn't see that pﬂr*
How many shots were fired?
One .,
And then did you leave?
Yes, 1 left when he told us to get out of the truck and seram.
Were you there when the military police officers, or the WRA police
there?
No.

f

in the
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Is there anything you wish to add to assist the jurors in determining the
cause of death, and placing the responsibility on the responsible party?
You understand we are trying to bring out all of the facts whether 1t 1is
for or against anybody. If I have forgotten to ask you a question it is
by inadvertence, and 1 want to bring out all the facts.

That is all I know about it,

Is there any part of tle testimony that you want to change or that you are
in doubt about?

If I can read what she took down maybe, but I told what I know,.

What you told is what you want to appear on record, there is nothing else
you can add then?

No.

Has Uh ; vish to ask?

(No )

Witr

R N R I TR LI CYRCLA
T I T I I S e e T s W IR T W e




TOM KADUWAKI 4th Witness

For the purpose of the record it 1s herewlth recorded that the witness
was duly sworn, Mr. Laderer questions.

Will you state your name please?
Tom Kaduwaki.
And where do you live, Tom?
44135-E .
That is at the WRA Tule Lake Center at Newell, Modoc County, California?
Yes. '
You are a person of the Japanese race are you not, Tom?

this is a coroner's inquest. The gentlemen and ladies of the jury
ace ‘the responslibility upon the .person responsible, 1f any, which
sed the death of Mr. Okamoto, did you know Mr. Okamoto?
No, L dlcn't,
ould you know him if you saw him?%
I guess I would.
Did you see a Japanese boy get shot - did you know who that was?®
I didn't know his name, but I know him when I see him what he did, that's
alls, :
How long have you been at this Center, Tom?
About two years, I guess.
Do you remember a gate that was used as the main entrance to the Community
of the WRA from the highway, immediately off the highway, before the
military put in the new ﬂate?
Yes.
Is that the gate where llr. Okamoto was
Yes.
If we refer to that gate as the 0ld entran m will know what I am
referring?

You speak English and understand English, ¢ not?
Yes.
If you do not understand any questions I i will say so?
Yes. .
Where were you at the old gate entrance when .8 thing occurred?
Riding the truck, cargo truck 136.
Where were you?
I was the driver,
Did you see the truck that lr. Okamoto was driving as it went out?
Yes.
Did the truck stop as it went out?
Yes.
Did you know whether or not he showed his identification card?
k0, I didntt,
There was no trouble when he went out?
No .
Were you still there when he came back?
Yﬂs.
Yhen he came back which side of the truck would you be nearest-Mr. Okamoto
or the other?
The driver's side.
Was the soldier at the gate?
Yes.
Did you see > soldier approach the truck?
Yes,
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Where did he come from?

He came from where he is stationed, I guess, you would call it the 1little
house thers. He came from there, He went around the other side of the
car.

Did the. truck stop before he came out of the guard house?

He was outside wailting and he told them to stop.

He told them to stop?

He told them to halt,

Did you see him come out of the house?

No I never, he was standing there.

How long had he Dbeen standing there, Tom?%

I don't know,

How long were you sltting there in this truck?

We had waited quite a long time, for an escort,

How long were you walting for your escort?

About 355 minutes,

Can you give us any estimate of the time the guard was walting at the
gate for the truck to come back?%

No.

But you do know that the guard was standing at the gate at the time the
truck made the turn in there?

Yeas,

LUid you see the guard tell the truck to stop?

Ye s.

What dld he do%

He hollered 'Halt' and went around the other side.

Did he make any motion with his gun or hands?

No, I don't believe he did.

Do you know the positlon of his gun when he told the truek to halt?

He was just holding on to 1t, that is all I know,

Did he approach the driver's side of the car first,

the side of the truck opposite the driver's sige?

He was on the opposite side of the driver.

Did he have any conversation?

I couldn't hear but I know they were saying something, but I couldn't
hear,

Then he went around the driver's side, and what took place then?

He sald 'get out of the truck.! All of g sudden he shot, that is all 1
know .,

Uid you notice the position of his gun when he was talking to the man
sitting next the driver?

He was holding it-

I meant before he went around.

I guess he was holding it pointed at the car.

Then he went around to the driver's side of the car?

Yes.

Lid he change the position of the gun when he went around?

1l am not sure,

Lid he do anything to the gun?

I never noticed that part,

Xou do not know whether he loaded the gzun or not?

No,

Lid you see. him at any time load the gun?

No, :

Did you hear him to tell the driver to get out of the cari

Yes.
How many timesg

1 am not certain. . know he said it once very loud.
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Mr. Okamoto was driving the truck?

Yes.

Did you see Mr. Okamoto get out?

Yes.

What did Mr. Okamoto do when he got out of the truck?

After that 1 didn't pay much attention until the shot, then 1 looked up
and he was on the ground.

pDid Mr. Okamoto strike the soldier?

I never noticed that,

Did the soldier strike Mr. Okamoto?

I never noticed that either.

Did he hit him with the gun?

I never noticed, the only time I looked up the soldier fired at him,
Did you notice the position of the soldier when he shot?

He was facing toward the driver - the soldier was facing toward the front.
They were facing each other?

Yes,

When he shot what position were lkr. Okamoto's hands 1n?

I don't know for sure. .

Could you tell us the position of Mr. Okamoto - was he facing directly
toward the soldier, or was he facing toward one side or the other?

T couldn't tell definitely.

Could you tell from where you sat what position the gun was in?

I guess he had 1t down here.

He had 1t resting upon or near his hip?

Someway like that, he didn't take alm or anything,

Was the gun on the soldier's shoulder?

I don't think it was.

fas it any place in his armpit, or below hls armplt?

That's the way I noticed it, right here. I don't know exactly.

As near as you can remember?

Between the hip and the shoulder,

Was the gun pointing upward or stralght at Mr. Okamoto, or was it pointed
down: in other words, I am trying to find out what part of the body the
gun was pointed to?

It was pointed at him but I don't know exactly.

Was Mr, Okamoto standing stralght up when he shot?

Yes.,

Were his knees bent?

I don't know.

In nther words, all you know 1is that the soldier shot and hit MNr, Okamoto?
You don't know how 1t happened, nor the cause?

No.

Whether one hit the other or not?

No,

How far did you say you were away from the soldler when Mr. QOkamoto was
shot?

About 50 feet I guess.

And you say the soldier backed up a couple of steps before he shot?

lie toolr one step back and then shot.

How far was he away from the edge of the gate when he shot?

I am not positive. I don't know,

Did you hear any other conversatlon except the one command to get out of
truck?

That: 18 =ll. I heard.

If there was other conversation you couldn't hear 1t?%

No, I couldn't,
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But this one command to get out was loud enough that you could hear it
90 feet away?

Yes,

LUid the soldier appear to be excited?

He was calm,

But he just spoke loud?

Yes,

Has the jury any questions to ask?

(No questions)

Mr. Laderer) Is there anything that you can add that we may have over-
looked and did not ask you about? We want to get all the facts,
After the shot was fired I .ran away,

Do you know which way Mr. Okamoto fell?

No I don't, 1 am not positive.

You ran away then?

Yes.

Did the soldier order you to go?

He told us to get off the truck so we got off and
How many shots did you hear? :

Just one,

Is there anything else that you can add?

That 1s all that 1 know of.

Is there any part of t he testimony that you want to change,
wish to have corrected?

No, I don't believe so,

All you know 1s what you have told us?

Yes.,




DR. JACK C. SLEATH - 5th Witness

For the purpose of the record 1t 1ls herewith recorded that the witness was
duly sworn.

Will you state your name please?

Jack C. Sleath.

What 1s your occupation and profession?

rhvsician and Surgeon.

You are duly licensed to practice medicine and surgery in the State of
California?
Yes.

You are connected with the WRA Tule Lake Ffroject, Newell, Modoe County,
California?

Yes,

Doctor, were you present when the person by the name of Shochi QOkamoto

was brought to the hospital?

I was,
For what reason was he'brought to the hospital?

It was reported that he had suffered an injury.

Did you examine him?
Yos, I did.
"hat did your examination disclose as to what type of injury?
It was disclosed that he had abdominal wounds and was suffering from shock.
Will yon describe the wounds to the jury, Doctor?
The examination showed a small penetrating wound in the r1¢ht slde of the
man's body which was in the region of the 8th rib, which would be about

in the ﬁeqlon of the nipple, and there was qroth@r wound on the left-hand

1de of the body about at the same level and perhaps a little bit lower.
h* wound was about 25 inches in diameter and it was located a 1little bit
outside the area of the other wound, that is outside the nipple, and from
thihAqédﬁminal contents were protruding, There was a small lacer-

atlon on the left arm in the region of the elbow. The man was in = condl-
tion which we recognized to be shock, and which we interpreted to be
traumatic shock arising from internal injuries.

What kind of treatment did you prescribe, if any?
The initial tlBiLUCﬂt was directed %oudrﬁ attempting to get the patient
out of shock, The thiput made a very poor response to this tre eatment, in
splte of the fact that the treatment given was quite extensive and was
given to the best of our ability to utilize all known methods, to us

s which can be utilized in attempting to control shock of this
drugs were adminlstered to him?
of drugs; shall I name them?

Morphine Sulphate

Blood Flasma

External heat applications

Blood transfusions

ddrenalin injections

These are some that I remember,

Uo you have your hospital record with you?

1 have a portion of the hospital record which has been completed so far.
Will that disclose any further drugs that have been sdministered?
Yes.,

Would you mind reading those, Doctor?
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A. In addition to .the drugs ¢ >ady mentioned I add:
Tetanus Anti-Toxin
Uxygen
Ephedrin Sulphate
Yeraldehyde
Calcium Gluconate
Artificial Respiration
I think that covers about all the drugs
fie was operated upon; did you operate, L
br, Hashiba and I, and two other doctors ] A
These doctors were administering before and after surgery - all at one
time ? ¥ '
They were administering during the course
When did he dle, Doctor?
At 12 minutes after 12, thilis date
Can you describe to the Jjury, doctor, the physical condition of Mr. Oka-
moto - his height, his weight, whether he was muscular or not?
I would say he was around 519% or 10" tall, he weighed 1 would say, in the
ne ighborhood of 180 pounds. He was a solid, stocky type of indivi dual
and well-developed. I would say he looked more or less an athletic-
laborer type. That is about all 1 guess in the way of physical descript-
ion.
Subsequent to his death, doctor, did you attend the autopsy?
on tue advice of the coroner, Yyes.
uld you qn*, doetor, that 'a bullet from a 30 caliber rifl

“a 11 exp with sunshot wounds and on
i

\';sul\_: sueh a bullet could have

trace the course ¢ e bullet for the jury?
them the damage which was found in the 1 L or
was sle} ?‘! one
ot cons ‘PCtF d t') the
lheres were

"'Lu‘\ na ""11

Liver on the jefs .\‘ﬂ_dw _
area on the left-hand side of his hoﬂv
contents pushed out through the c;V1+y so that it was
nd draped on the outside of his body, nls garL’cnlar
Lovered with sticky contents, a portion of wh we recog-
spaghetti. j
from your experience with gunshot wounds which would you say was
of entrance, and which the point of exit?
what I have 1o~vnnd about gunshot wounds I would interpret the
on the right hand side of the body to be the point of entrance,
hole on the left-hand side of the body to be the point of

demonstrating to the Jjury on your own body Jjust the point
of entrance and the polnt of ezlt.
ét;mwgiinﬁi?fbafpr?xim%ti}yréF!th? E?h-?HTUT““QCﬁ bﬂﬁue?r the 8th an@
9th rib, whiech would be approximately the location of the wound on the
right slde of. the bﬁﬁy A“at would be the small hole, and this hole
would be about his I und be about this 1a:qe. I am polnting to
the left hand r"lde Df below the nipple toward the ﬂﬂf°1ﬂﬁ of
the nipple, at : he same level as the area on tb
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DR. GEQRGE HASHIBA - 6th
For the purpose of the record recorded that the wltness was

duly sworn.

your name, doctor?

doctor are you not?

licensed to practice in the State of Calif

now located at the WRA Tule Lake Center, lNewell, No
California?
Ye s,

You

are one of the doctors at the hospital at the WRA?

you one of the that attended Mr. Okamoto when he arrived at
hospital?

Yes.
- all of the questions asked Dr. Sleath, may I

Doctor, rather than ask jyc
ask you whether you the room when Dr. Sleath was testifying?

were asked of him?%
answers be the same

there were
4

concurred in

when thie four doctors?

211l four doetors

Mo bl 30 S DO I SE L,
IR W W W S
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CAMPBELL, 7th Witness

For the purpose of the record it is herewlth recorded that the witness was
duly sworn.

0

il o

Will you state your name please?

Roy S. Campbell.

Where do you live, Mr. Campbell?

Close ta Tule Lake.

And what is your position, or Occupe ation?

At present 4 am employed by the WRA

In what capacity?®

Construction foreman.

Were you such on May 24, 1944%

Yes.

Did you know Mr. Okamoto?

Not personally.

Was he assigned to you?

Well his truck sometimes delivered stuff for construetlon. I wasn't ac-
quainted with him and he never did any deliverin-g for me.

Do you know who, if anybody, authorigzed this truck to leave the project,
who '1n authority with the WRA, I am referring to the truck driven b N
Mr, Okamoto.

I think thet truck was hauling material, I think for the high school in
the colony and they have the duthﬁrlt“ tp g0 out this o0ld nete across the
highway and railroad to our lumber yard. Who told him to go I could not

1arge of the construction with the high schooL?
tlcharﬂ Kondo, I think now that 1s who it was. 1 haven't
a while,
Okamoto was shot?
was.
at was at the gate that we have been referring to as the old entrance?

Yes, 1t was.
Where were you Mr. Campbell?
L was in the Ford V-8 sitting back of the truck that the Jap was driving-
the Jap that was shot. .
Uid you follow the truck to the entrance?
No I didn't
Was The truck stopped when you got there?
It was.
Had you seen the truck in motion?
No,
hat did you first observe when you first drove up, Mr. Campbell?
I stopped behind the truck and the guard motioned me through, but the
truck being in the center of the gate-way and the gate on my left was
open toward me at an angle, there wasn't enough room to get through,
here was the guard standing then?
The guard was standing opposite of the cab on the driver's side.
The first time you saw the soldler was when you drove up?
That's right,
Did you hear any conversatlion between the guard and the driver?
He was arguing with the Jap in the cab. 1 am certain he was talking but
I couldn't understand what they were qa‘-fing.
‘lhen you say 'arguing' what do you mean, MlNr. Campbell?
1 could hear voices but I could not understend a word.
Then you mean they were just talking, or they were arguing?
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Talking then if you want to call it that.

What motions did you see by either party?

Well right at that time there were no motions. The guard was standing
there.

What did you observe than?

Well, he stopped talking to the Jap in the cab, then he elther said "Get
out of that truck", or iStay in that truck," 1 don't know which. Anyway
the Jap got out, stepped on the running board, stepped down on the ground
and the guard qaid "Don't come any closer," and called him some kind of
name, I think it was 'bastard! (He had not qulte got his balance I would
say and the guard brought the rifle up. I would say left-=handed, and

was golng to hit him with the butt of the rifle, and he brought it around
but I don't think he even touched him. Then Lhe Jap made some body move-
ment and he faced a little bit toward me and kind of humped his shoulder
up and made a step below or out a little ways from the truck and the
guard jumped back three feet or such and held the gun in a position such
as this and fired. .

He held the gun with the butt on his left side of his body?

More on the shoulder.

Left slde of his body?

Well it looked that way to me, 1t looked 1ike the guard was left-handed.
I shoot left-handed myself, and there was .Just about the position of the
gun.

You think the gun was under the left forearm?

That's right, because before that when he was going to strike with butt
the rifle he came this way.

The only conversation you heard between the soldier and the driver of this
truck was when the guard said "Don't come any closer."

That's right, g

Did you see any motions of the suard indlecating that he wanted the
of the truck to go back of the truck or toward the back end of the

No, all he said was "Don't come any closer,”
Which way was the soldier facingt

He was faclng toward the truck and the Jap.
And which way was Okamoto facing:

He was faclng toward the guard, north, Might have been at a slight angle.
Did Okamoto move before he was shot?

I picture him standing still.

Did you know how tall Okamoto was, or what would you estimate?

I would estimate a 1little shorter than I, I am about 5'g",

How tall would you estimate the guard to be?

Just about neck and neck, the way I picture them,

You think that they were both ab bout the same height?

Approximately.

What was the difference in their build?

Well the Jap I would say was quite g little bit stockier, heavier,

How far about would you say the guard was from Mr, Okamoto when he diot?

I would say about 3 or 4 feet. !

Did he move Jjust before he shot?

The Jap?

No, the guard.

No, he was standing still.

He made no motion before he shot, then did he take a step backward?

Yes he did step back about 3 feet until he came to this position then there
was no more movement after that. time. That is when he had the gun ready

to shoot.

Could you tell from where you were what portion of the body the gun was
pointed at the time he was shot?
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It looked to me from side view like right iIn the middle of the stomach.
What side of the body, left or right?

I could hardly see because I was sitting right here and the Jap was
standing and facing that way and it looked like he pointed the gun right
in the middle.

Directly in the middle of his stomach?

That is the way 1t looked from where I sat.

Just to clarify a point, when the guard or the soldier raised his rifle
you say the Jap moved? '

You mean when he raised the rifle to strike him?

Yes.

Yes, he gave a slight body movement.

Could you descrlbe that body movement more clearly?

He was facing toward me this way and had to step toward me a little

the rifle up, and hit the Jap on the right-hand side of the neck,

kind of came something like this, kind of a ducking motion and at

same time a step forward.

1

o
And bended his knees - did you bend your knees Jjust then?
If that 1s what I did maybe he did. I never noticed his knees,
Is that the moment that the guard stepped back and fired, when Mr, Okamoto
made that motion?
1hat Llecright.
Pid any time elapse?
No, 1t was quick,
You think then the time the guard came up with the butt of his gun Mr,
Okamoto took one step forward with his left foot?
Well, I didn't say left foot but probably that would be the logical foot
to take; first he kind of humped and came toward me.
Agaln, I repeat, Mr. Campbell - I was trying to describe Jjust exactly what
for the record, and I noticed you did move forward with your left

-

you dic

=1
foot when you demonstrated for the jury. If that is not right let us
correct 1t for the jury.
That is the movement he made, but I didn't see his foot.
Did you see his body move forward - you are sure of that?
] t

He naturally would have taken a short step 1like I
there. |

Are there any further questions by the jury?

How long was the conversation after you stopped - was the driver still on
the truck, or did you hear two voices when you got there?

I couldn't distinguish one from the other - I couldn't understand a single
word., e

How long would you estimate that went on before he stepped out of the
truck?

Frobably 30 seconds.

rled to explain to you

e
Witness
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8th Witnes

For the purpose of the record it is herewlth recorded that the
duly sworn,

Will you state your name please?
Giro Snow.
Were you present when the person by the name of Shochi Okamoto was shot?

Ye s,

Vhere were you?
About 15 feet away from the old post office building.

Lid you hear any of the discussion?

Well I heard just one phrase - he ordered this fellow out to the fence,
To the fence or to the highway?

To the highway. )

Will you tell in your own words Just what happened?

After the soldier ordered Okamoto ot he gseemed to he: ate going out
there, He got back into the truck and then the soldier told him to get
off again which he did, and then after he got off the truck again he
started to go toward the highway again and he stopped, and then the
soldier prodded him with the point of the gun which rmust have struck him
because he pushed it as fien the soldier stepped back and fired the
shot. Then he ordered us :

Lo you know whether the soldier who was on duty was the regular guard?

I think he was. ; J

Has the jury any questions they

(No questions)

Witness dismissed.




MASAO TOKUYOSHI - 9th Witness

For the purpose of the record it is herewith recorded that the witness wa s
duly sworn.

will you state your name please?
uusa*} Tokuyoshi
Where do you live?
S705-4
Were you present at the time Mr, Okamoto was shot?
our truck was parked right back of two of the constru
you see him shot?
saw him when he was shot,
you tell the jury what you saw and heard?
when the soldler was pointing a gun at him then he fired a shot
flopped right down, he flopped pretty bad-and all the
nt were running for their lives The soldier pointed hi

running so

ction truck,

',d us to get out of there. df’r*b)d started
nning too for protectlon,
what happened immedlately before the shot was fired?
at thw truck when Okamoto was out of tl
}

&

the truck, we were inside
walting for tkwrﬂ-sc rt to go

1 chewing the Tag toge

neard no “T;VPPT'ti) ?
we didn't hear any tthwrsation. We dildn't know what
that all you know about this?

on duty t‘wvﬁf
on duty the:
stopoineg
I dldn't
the tractors.
you know about this?

Jury any questions to ask?
questions)

-»‘:'L




FRANK TAEKAHARU AMEMIYA - 10th Witness

For the purpose of the record it is herewith recorded that the wltness was
duly sworn.
What is your name please?
Frank Taksharu Amemiya,
Where do you live?
403
Lid you know Mr., Okamoto?
No,
Were you present when he was shot?
Yes,
This 1s an coroner!s jury inves g : S " his death, and to
Place responsibilility on the person causing 3 de if any. -Will you
tell the Jury where you were at the tin 11 s 1oo0ting happe ned?
I was on a truck on top of the cab, I was from the fence about 30 feet
as the guard changed, I think the guard changed at two, and around maybe
ten or fifteen minutes later thls WHA truck came by to the gate and
apparently he was trying to gn to the other side to the lumber yard. That
truck was lumber construction truck and as I say I could see there was two
men in 1t and the sentry halted the car to show the driver's pass, and
than they went by, and in about ten or 15 minutes later they came back
gain and the wuard halted the driver and I don't know what started the
a?gument but all of a sudden I saw the guard flare up and he was cussing
to this Jap up and down and this guard he cocks his gun and came around
to the driver's side and-about feet from the driver's side of the truck
he commanded the driver to come down out of the truck, and the driver was
sort of hesitating about what to do, and for about a minute I think he was
then he came as he came down the guard rushed him from
and at t“ same time he tried to hit Mr,
i As ] d so Mr, Okamoto turned around
the blow and as he did e guard took one step behind
he shot the guar mmanded us to get the hell out
1rﬂW1“ got out of the car and sought shelter behind the

.
e B~

o
=
X

OW &
t“) the drive 8 side he cocked his gun,

you know,

suns?
guns

gee he cocked the gun. You could

driver of tlie
a language I couldn't express and then all of a
around the drive: 3ide and commanded him to
was In a dagze and I hink he know what to
truck, After he 1 80 this guard rushed him
gnd hit him with AiS firgty . AL bh me tlme he had his rifle
hand and took a swing with his s barrel. HMr, Okamoto
left hand and right hand to avoid the blow and as he did so
ntry took one step ulck one shot Mr, Okamoto.
say this soldier held the gun 1in one hand ?lt mry, Okamoto?
he rushed him he hit him with his richt hand when Mr, Okamoto
€ As he took one step tl -i: guard rushed r
t him with his richt hand and at the same time
(=

barrel. Then lir, Okamotn tried to avold the blow with

L I-
iame L

i
frfu £

me he ::Lf)t-
he gsoldier when he hit him?

going away




{ STEDIT AN NTYV) 5]
lalianany alMlis - <

Did he have hi: ack toward the soldier when the soldier
No, wk he shot him naturally he led avold the blow turned
around le was facling kind of sideways, or facing him, I don't
know which was it any way.

Did you say the soldler actually hit M Okamoto?

in the back sck someplace

a T
(=

a,
azed from the blow?

mr

hen the tolc 1 o come off the truck he didn't know what to do.

oW
told him to go to the back of the truck-

~ 1 I’~ Clt
truck and

from the truck?
. only thine I
‘was gll 3 cmilfﬂ_
ldler said when he 4.8
I don't know what made
ing to run the WRA, Don!
s thing like that,

the loud

o = —~ ; -
around the Okamoto to get

when he told him to gef the

truek then he did be-

The expression of the voice when the cus

qe
the time he came around the same voice, it

al voice
: the barrel of the
Ckamoto

rrel

l coming toward hirx

gun wds he trylng to hit him with, the barrel

further questions to ask?




TSUGIO SOGA ~ 10th Witness

For the purpose of the record it 1s herewith recorded that the wiltness

l'i‘l ¥
\

Will you tell

Sworln,

Will you state your name

' BU 10 Q0Za .

lhere do you live?

Block 3901-c

This is a cornner's inquest to determine the cause of the death of Nr,

e
'y

U&d”dt? and to place the responsibllity upon the responsible person, if
any. d you know Mr. Okamoto?

o S §

Lig f'» see him shot?

Where were you?

I was leaning on the fender of a trueck - that was an oi truck.
By the o0ld entrance to the camp?

Yes,
Well I don't exactly know how
Approximately?

Let!'s see - from that corner to that corner,
25 or 30 feet?

far away were you from where he was shot?
FPar I+ waa
Bl 16 1L was.,

bid you hear any cornversation between the sol r a) ir, Okamoto?
) y

No, 1 don't know,

You didn't hear?®

No,

the jury what you saw then?

I don't know exactly what time 1t was but we were wailting for the escort
to get out of the gate. I was there about 1:30 with the rest of the
heavy ﬂquiumo'u crew. Well we had to wait for quite a while and I saw a
truck coming toward the camp and stop at the gate, and before about 2:00
they change the guard out there at the gate, and it was around 2:15 ®hen
the truck comes toward the camp and he stopped at the gate and I heard
the M.P. was cussing like anything. I didn't know the words exactly,
all I heard was the word 'Jap' and I turned around and to see what 1is
going on out there and theg M.P, started walking toward the driver and told
him to get off the truck,” the driver got off the trucc, and the M.P,

sald 'get outslide' and the driver he didn't went out he was about to go
inside the truck again. At that time the M,P, shoves him out with rifle.
He got out and the M.P. told him 'get outside, get.' And he strikes at
the driver and the driver tried to protect hlﬂQHlf by throwing his arm,
He threw the arm and guard drew biCF and he fired. After he fired
naturally the driver went down suffering, and he turned around sharp and
he pointed the gun at us boys and so we ecrammed out of there pretty fast,
and that is about all I saw out there.

You say the guard told him to go outside the gate. or go back toward to
end of the truck? Sl o g

Told him to go outside gate?

He was inside the gats.

He was inside the gate, The guard told him to go outside. He was
pointing the gun with the grip on the trigger ready. If he went out

he got shot right there.

Where was he standing in relatlon to the truck?

ir
‘_J




TSUGIO 30CGA - 2 5/25/44

You mean the driver - the driver got off. He got off the truck and the
guard told him to go outside the gate,

What part of the truck was he standing by the motor, or by the front
bumper, the cab, or the body of the truck?

Begide the door.

And the guard told him to go back toward the end of the truck outside the
gate?

Yes, outside.

The back of the truck was outside the gate?

I don't know how long the truck motor was inside the gate.

How did he shove him out?

He used the rifle.

Pushed him out with the rifle - he held the rifle in both hand?

The guard tried to force him out. The driver tried to defend himself,

I do not understand how the guard was holding the gan, Will you explain
again? (

He was holding about like this and telling the driver to get out of here.
He was holding the gun pointed at the driver and the butt of the gun was
near his hip?%

Not toward his hip. It was right here - pretty high on here.

I meant the soldier - how did he have the gun?%

Naturally he was holding by his hip.

The butt was by the hip and the front of the gun was pointed to the driver?
Naturally.

When he tried ¥ i) he driver of the truck what part of the gun was

he trying to . A ;

He was trying to stri with the barrel.

You think he hit him onh the arm%

He struck at the driver.

With the barrel of the gun?

Yes,

And he tried to protect himself?

He tried to defend himself by raising his arm.

His right arm?

Yes, his right arm. At that time he tried to draw back about three feet
and he d right at him,

Did he hit him any other place except
No, d , think so.

Dic 11t the driver with his fist?
You mean guard hit the driver - no, just with the rrel.,: of ‘the guns
Lo you remember what position his arm was in when he was hit, that is when
Ukamoto was hit?

He went quick, so fast, up in the sir with his arm.

Was that when the guard stepped back and shot?

As soon as he went llke that the guard drew back qulck and fired.

Lid Okamoto go out of the gate before he was shot?

No, he didn't went out of the gate.

DUid he start back out of the cates

No.

He didn't move? :

He stepped out of the truck and stand there steady in the same position
and was smoking a pipe, not saying a word, just standing. at that time
the guard struck him and he threw his arm, and at that time the guarad
drew back and fired.

o
L




TSUGIO SOGA - 3  5/25/44

Did this guard use any other force except the gun?
He didn't use anything but that gun.

That csuard was the guard on duty at the gate?

Yes,

Has the jury any questions?

(NO QUESTIONS)

Witness dismissed.

B T




For
duly

BEN WATANABL - 1lth Witness

the purpose of the record it 1s herewith recorded that the witness was
sworn,

Will you state your name?
Ben Watanabe.
Where do you l1live?
7902-D
Did you see Mr, Okamoto get. shot?
Yes.
Will you tell the jury where you were and what you saw?
I was in back of the second truck from the gate. The first truck was the
grease truck and I was standing on the back of the truck, The truck I
was standing on had the canvas thrown half way in the back so I could
stand on the seat and 1 saw everything that hlpreneﬂ I saw the truck
leave the lumber yard and head toward the gate and it stopped before it
reached the gate., Then 1t kind of started off again and I heard the
guard at the gate yell 'Halt' and the’truck stopped at the gate. Then I
saw him come out and ordor the man on the left side of the truek, that's
the driver's helper, off the truck. Then he went around in front of the
truck toward the drivel's slde and he ordered Mr. Okamoto to get off the
truck and lr, Okamoto got off his truck, Then he told him to get outside
the gate. Then 1 saw Mr. Okamoto get in his truck and then the cuard
ordered him off agaln and then the guard swune the butt of ’ls rifle at
Ir. Okamoto and lipr. Okamoto lifted his left arm to ward off th > blow, to
orotect his face. Then I saw the guard push the muzzle of h1s gun in
Mr, Okamoto's chest and Mr. Okamoto warded it off with his left hand.
Then the guard stepped back and shot him. Then Mr. Okamoto fell face
up with his head toward the outside of the gate. Then the guard ordered
everybody away from the place, so we all ran behind the old post office.
We stayed there for two or three seconds and heard Mr, Okamoto groaning.
Then we headed toward the hospital and asked the hospital staff to %end
an ambulance to get lir, Okamoto, then we stayed there until the ambulance
brought him in, That is gll.
You say the guard ordered the driver's helper out. Did he get out?
Yes he got out and stayed on the ground. :
The driver got out £007%
Yes.
Pid the guard hit
No,
Did the gunard threaten him?
I didn't see him threasten him. He Just ordered him to get off the truck.,
Ihere were only two men in the truck? )
Yes.,
Both get out?
Yes,
Mo was the driver's helper?
I believe it 1s tl® first fellow that came in here .
What woulu ou say 1f he testified that he didn't get out
I saw him get out of the truck. He misht have gotten in

f the
later.

attention was toward Mr. Okamoto.

And you saw the guard put the muzzle of his gun apainst Okamoto's chest?
Mr, vuqmoto‘a chest, yes. It is more of a stab than a push,

You don't mean the butt of the gun?

No, I mean the nmuzzle,




BEN WATANABE - ¢ 5/25/44

Did you see the guard load the gun?
Yes,
Where did he load the gun? ]
It was a,new shift then and when he got off the truck he filled his
maﬂazineJWhen the truck stopped the second time I heard him pull
back the bolt.
From what distance?
About 100 feet, I guess, I don't know exactly because it's gzot to be
measured.
What would you megsure 1t?
I believe around about 100 feet, I guess. Maybe less.
Then it could have been 30 feetf
; couldn't be surs.
Would you know the differenc
1 think I would.
Did you ever see the guard
No,
If he had would you h g€ ‘ :
, L think I would, because I was over 10 feet up in the alr,
Has the jury any questia
(’33* jurer) Was Mr. Okamo i g Tl sentry when he shot
I think he was,
Full face?

L83

x5
I

1im?

No, but full face, it would be about gquarter,
But he wasn't sideways?

No he wasn't sideways.

ﬂ;‘_lt Sifif% -“f 0 1{ al':‘l()tr(") wasg acing ‘t]lc {j:'|15;11'}ﬁ"?
The right side at an angle faced the guard,

Witness dismissed.




JOE J. NISHISHAKI - 12 Witness

For the purpose of the record it is herewith recorded that the witness was
duly sworn.

Will you please state your name?
Joe J. Nishishakil
Where do you live?

see Mr. Okamoto

were Yyou at the
on the seconi tru ling nagazin There was a great truck
was on the :
were two LPH”H-
grease truck in the of me, and 1 was on the second truck reading

ms ‘:Lmine.
is by the o0ld entrance to the Center?
at the entrance.,
you tell the -jury what jyc saw and what you heard?
ere out there walting for an escort to go out to the Cinder Pit
as just read a magazine and I notlced a car come into the gate
noticed the gua He went from the right to the left de and I 2
11“ order him get off the truck, and the driver got « and then he
1as standing there for a w e and then the sentry struck him with the gun
and then the driver put up his arm just naturally as if he was going
ﬁrete,t hims He raises his left arn to protect himself t}
sentry twlsted the gun around and shot him instantly right
Then the sentry orderec y Lo get out -ﬁjf‘

,'QE-i\fé;’.Zl'{]( and ran behi the o0ld post 11‘?

W

all I know. Only thing I heard was

to get outsige the fence or somewt

p’)r—lw]ranc*_“ '_
the truck."
T s et 1 L .
enough for you

Approxim
You were
Yes,
a:‘.'ulwn 7 tract
L just look
s tr your attention
or not?
get off the
kept on look
The 7as thing you heard?
I kept on looking because naturallvy
came ground by the driver's seat.,
: thing you hear

'..HJ

Ouu 1 I 1S 1 ]

Vo a af - S P I ; Y T ~+ VAR . 3
Yes, afte e yelled 'get off'! I noticed him motlon.
You say the guard hit him with the butt of the gun?
Yes,




romm T e

NT QT a Vg
NlooloHARL -

and

any

Just 1lifted hi msSell
'hat was Jjust before the guard shot ti e ‘ted his left arm?
the guard struck hi
after that was sho
_ th U . twisted the gun around and shot him.,
way was Okamotc when he was shot, in relation to the guard?
facing toward the front direction. ‘

No questions
4
Witness diasmissed,




GEORGE YASUSHI YAMASHITA
For the purpose
dul vy

¥ with recorded that the
SWOYn.

| .
Jixamoto was
e B

r';,nl,‘l,;

were jyou?
back
was 1t%
between the : ¢ gnd the gat
r away the rom ) ace where
75 feet.,
ygu tell th_L jury in. your

ur ow iords what
thing 1 heard was tr

yﬂu heard observed?
the iier told Mr, Okamoto to get )Fi‘ he
vkamoto didn't want t b OFE fbo truck s & = lier
hammer on his went around to Qkame ﬂiﬂe
which lr. Okamot 114 Wﬂnf
Okamoto to start w
Ao,
Okamoto guarded
and just

on a

= 8

= ]

lir, OJmamoto was shot?

"
L

an A

””11’6“ epped bxc\
started paund¢n) his chest, After that

from the scene so we :
no other conversati

hy1cnwhm
113thirmj

sentries

1 16
driver was ‘ 5 }h fore.
you think that iver didn't
soldier repeated more than

ct @

He - @
=

oA

out of the truck?

once , went around.to the
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For the purposes of

duly sworn.

record it is ith orded that the witness
L ]

you Tell us your hame?

My, Okamoto

were Yo
truck

. was on

k end of the truck?

in reference

soldier, he
e 1L heard the ias ordered to get
ordered him sever: imes, and then finally I
: ¥ I got up and I saw him mos ng. ‘then he
ordered us to get ou I didn't know that but the rest of
running aed I started running too,
1d you hear anything lMr, Okamoto

I i i e et L e i i e T S e g L) R T TN W i WY




KAZUTO MATSUMOTO -

15 Witness

For the purpose of the record It is herewlth recorded that the witness was

duly sworn.

What 1s your name?
Kazuto Matsumoto,
Where do you live?
601-C

Did you see
Yaas, I did,
‘Ferﬂ were you?
I was in third
Was that the pilckup?
Yes, that's the pickup.
Will you tell the Jjury
Well, I sitting 1in
up to the gate stop
the right side of the
ordered Qkgmoto to
out. . He pob: out and was
ed Mr, Okamoto to acro
Okamoto made intention to
and stood on the right
him and struck him
back and immediately shot
out of here and we gall ra
the ambulance
the people.
What was

TS a4
First

Nr.

truck,

was
and

15
M, e

o
go

the Pirat
thing the truck
attracted your atten
all ch’rw toward
were you sitting?
front
else did you
hear the
soldler
he shouting?
the truck," at £
you hear the sol
told him to go
after he got
ri ’_’;l'!t,
he hit him
was right
see if

hear be
convers
‘uhﬁ
was
of f
did
he

was out
is

Tha t
That
mere did
I think it
Could you
I don't know if he
his gun up and came
ralsed up hand
He had his ght arm stra
OQut from his body - up mo

Over the shoulder?
Lrdontt: thinke 16
he touch

with

e o
dald
down
8 to pro
2

1—1“

H

2
AL
%
I

No,
the gun?
know,
know whe

know,
any

didn't
I don't
the Jjury
gquestions.
Witness dismissed.,
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hot?
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standing by the truck.
the gate. He
go but he didn't
the truck,
butt of the
i1s fellow. Then
oF old post
Ad. building

you heard,
pilckup and ju
€ the
then he c¢a

the

88
20,
Then
r n
gun
ne

A
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+he
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the trouble
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n

soldier
the
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ation

cus
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that's
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what 4
driver?

irst, he
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hard
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hen
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not see,

held the gun away?

1s when he struck he
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the soldier
and
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and the

abar
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soldi
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mMASAKI MAKAWMOTO - 16th Witness

For the purp#se of the record it 1s herewilth recorded that the
duly sworn.

& ]
=
A.
(“h
(‘-( .
A
e
G
dha

ﬂhat is your name please?

.1:1 aki Makamoto .
Knere do you live?®

4007-8B,
Were you present when Mr, Okamoto was shot?

Yes,
Where were you?%

I was qulte a ways back. I was on the second truck on the side on
side of the trueck.

11l you tell the iur“ in your own words what you saw and heard?
I was quite a ways back so L couldn't see everythlnm that actually
happened, but what I saw might be wrong too, you know,

Just tell us what you saw and what you henrd?
I was quite s ways back. 1 couldn't hear much what he say. Anyway he
told him to get off the truck, and I didn't know what was all the
commotion. He got off and then it looked like ne was told ©to walk out
of the gate or something., ‘hen he came back and the next thing I see
rifle against him, and him defending himself and next thing I know we
a shot.

When you say he was defending himself - what did he
lha+
w

I know he had his arm like tha and 1t looked like

left arm was in the air

the gun?
say exactly.
see the soldler hit
gun was up against
see which side the
.:171 tkw* soldier do%
looks like he drew back and shot
you see the soldier make any i ﬂgi
truck?
know - I didn't see that,
all you know?

ifter he got shot he was hit  nig ‘chest 1ike this I could-

he fell.

the front started runnineg so I ntn%tﬁﬂ Funninr with
he ar tne cﬁldier tell him to get ou - ’
that when he hollered,
him holler to get out of the

once ?
f!"l’) la
times did you hear him?

neard was once I guess,
] pnce .

them.,




MASAKLI MAKAMOTO
n a loud
es

.
Is there

1
Y

anythir

you know that
know

followed the bunch t
ver with anything
I could see,

only thing you saw?
I was

’

8 gquite a ways back,
and 1

didn't pay too much
the soldier hit him

and after
attentlion.

ith anything but

all 1 was fooling around

the gun?
any questions

4 T»
b‘) a’Sn.?

P s B N ANCA B L e A i




SADAO YaMalNE -~ 17th Witness

of the record it is herewlith recorded that the witness was

For the purpose

. duly sworn.

What is your name please?

Sadans Yamane.

Where do vou live?%

4809-B

Were you present when Mr, Okamoto was shot?

o

No, I was not there,

Do you know anything about 1it?

I tell my assistant to come back and report, than I know, but not before
You know lMir., Okamoto?

Yes, I know,

He drives &8 truck?

Yes, he drives for me,

And you are the foreman - did you send him out after lumber?

Ve a
LT O

Is it neces 7 to go out that gate?
Yes,

under orders from you at that time%

o
A
-

to go get the lumber and come back

questions to ask?




